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1 Based on the Government’s submissions in its 
RFAA dated February 7, 2025, the Agency finds 
that service of the OSC on Registrant was adequate. 
Specifically, the Declaration from a DEA Diversion 
Investigator (DI) indicates that the DI successfully 
served the OSC via email to Registrant’s registered 
email address and via mail to Registrant’s registered 
address. RFAAX 2, at 2. On November 22, 2024, 
Registrant called the DI and the DI informed 
Registrant that she had mailed and emailed a copy 
of the OSC, and informed Registrant of the OSC’s 
meaning and effect. 

2 The Agency need not adjudicate the criminal 
violations alleged in the OSC/ISO. Ruan v. United 
States, 597 U.S. 450 (2022) (decided in the context 
of criminal proceedings). 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Antitrust Division 

Notice Pursuant to the National 
Cooperative Research and Production 
Act of 1993—Bytecode Alliance 
Foundation 

Notice is hereby given that, on May 
29, 2025, pursuant to section 6(a) of the 
National Cooperative Research and 
Production Act of 1993, 15 U.S.C. 4301 
et seq. (‘‘the Act’’), Bytecode Alliance 
Foundation (‘‘Bytecode Alliance 
Foundation’’) has filed written 
notifications simultaneously with the 
Attorney General and the Federal Trade 
Commission disclosing changes in its 
membership. The notifications were 
filed for the purpose of extending the 
Act’s provisions limiting the recovery of 
antitrust plaintiffs to actual damages 
under specified circumstances. 
Specifically, Renderlet, Inc., Brooklyn, 
NY, has been added as a party to this 
venture. 

Also, SingleStore, San Francisco, CA, 
has withdrawn as a party to this 
venture. 

No other changes have been made in 
either the membership or planned 
activity of the group research project. 
Membership in this group research 
project remains open, and Bytecode 
Alliance Foundation intends to file 
additional written notifications 
disclosing all changes in membership. 

On April 20, 2022, Bytecode Alliance 
Foundation filed its original notification 
pursuant to section 6(a) of the Act. The 
Department of Justice published a notice 
in the Federal Register pursuant to 
section 6(b) of the Act on May 13, 2022 
(87 FR 29379). 

The last notification was filed with 
the Department on March 19, 2025. A 
notice was published in the Federal 
Register pursuant to section 6(b) of the 
Act on April 21, 2025 (90 FR 16704). 

Suzanne Morris, 
Deputy Director Civil Enforcement 
Operations, Antitrust Division. 
[FR Doc. 2025–14051 Filed 7–24–25; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE P 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Drug Enforcement Administration 

Taha Dias, M.D.; Decision and Order 

On November 4, 2024, the Drug 
Enforcement Administration (DEA or 
Government) issued an Order to Show 
Cause (OSC) to Taha Dias, M.D., of 
Frostproof, Florida (Registrant). OSC, at 
1; Request for Final Agency Action 
(RFAA), Exhibit (RFAAX) 1, at 1. The 

OSC proposed the revocation of 
Registrant’s DEA Certificate of 
Registration No. BD9971208, alleging 
that Registrant has committed such acts 
as would render its registration 
inconsistent with the public interest. 
OSC, at 1 (citing 21 U.S.C. 823(g)(1); 
824(a)(4)).1 

More specifically, the OSC alleged 
that between July 2022 and December 
2023, Registrant repeatedly violated 
federal and Florida state law by issuing 
prescriptions for controlled substances 
outside the usual course of professional 
practice and for other than a legitimate 
medical purpose, in violation of 21 CFR 
1306.04(a); and Fla. Stat. § 456.44(3).2 
OSC, at 3. 

On February 7, 2025, the Government 
submitted a request for final agency 
action (RFAA) requesting that the 
Agency issue a default final order 
revoking Registrant’s registration. 
RFAA, at 1. After carefully reviewing 
the entire record and conducting the 
analysis as set forth in more detail 
below, the Agency grants the 
Government’s request for final agency 
action and revokes Registrant’s 
registration. 

I. Default Determination 
Under 21 CFR 1301.43, a registrant 

entitled to a hearing who fails to file a 
timely hearing request ‘‘within 30 days 
after the date of receipt of the [OSC] 
. . . shall be deemed to have waived 
their right to a hearing and to be in 
default’’ unless ‘‘good cause’’ is 
established for the failure. 21 CFR 
1301.43(a) & (c)(1). In the absence of a 
demonstration of good cause, a 
registrant who fails to timely file an 
answer also is ‘‘deemed to have waived 
their right to a hearing and to be in 
default.’’ 21 CFR 1301.43(c)(2). Unless 
excused, a default is deemed to 
constitute ‘‘an admission of the factual 
allegations of the [OSC].’’ 21 CFR 
1301.43(e). 

Here, the OSC notified Registrant of 
his right to file a written request for 
hearing, and that if he failed to file such 
a request, he would be deemed to have 
waived his right to a hearing and be in 

default. RFAAX 1, at 4–6 (citing 21 CFR 
1301.43). According to the 
Government’s RFAA, Registrant failed 
to request a hearing. RFAA, at 1. Thus, 
the Agency finds that Registrant is in 
default and therefore has admitted to 
the factual allegations in the OSC. 21 
CFR 1301.43(e). 

II. Applicable Law 

As the Supreme Court stated in 
Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005), 
‘‘the main objectives of the [Controlled 
Substances Act (CSA)] were to conquer 
drug abuse and control the legitimate 
and illegitimate traffic in controlled 
substances.’’ 545 U.S. at 12. Gonzales 
explained that: 
Congress was particularly concerned with the 
need to prevent the diversion of drugs from 
legitimate to illicit channels. To effectuate 
these goals, Congress devised a closed 
regulatory system making it unlawful to 
manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess 
any controlled substance except in a manner 
authorized by the CSA . . . . The CSA and 
its implementing regulations set forth strict 
requirements regarding registration, labeling 
and packaging, production quotas, drug 
security, and recordkeeping. 

Id. at 12–14. 
The OSC/ISO’s allegations concern 

the CSA’s ‘‘statutory and regulatory 
provisions . . . mandating . . . 
compliance with . . . prescription 
requirements’’ and, therefore, go to the 
heart of the CSA’s ‘‘closed regulatory 
system’’ specifically designed ‘‘to 
conquer drug abuse and to control the 
legitimate and illegitimate traffic in 
controlled substances,’’ and ‘‘to prevent 
the diversion of drugs from legitimate to 
illicit channels.’’ Id. at 12–14, 27. 

A. Allegation That Registrant 
Improperly Prescribed Controlled 
Substances 

According to the CSA’s implementing 
regulations, prescriptions may only be 
issued by an individual practitioner 
who is ‘‘[a]uthorized to prescribe 
controlled substances by the jurisdiction 
in which he is licensed to practice his 
profession’’ and has either been issued 
a DEA registration or is exempted from 
registration under DEA regulations. 21 
CFR 1306.03. Furthermore, a lawful 
controlled substance order or 
prescription is one that is ‘‘issued for a 
legitimate medical purpose by an 
individual practitioner acting in the 
usual course of his professional 
practice.’’ 21 CFR 1306.04(a). A 
‘‘practitioner must establish and 
maintain a bona fide doctor-patient 
relationship in order to act ‘in the usual 
course of . . . professional practice’ and 
to issue a prescription for a ‘legitimate 
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